### **RECEIVED**

## STATE OF WISCONSIN12-28-2015 IN SUPREME COURT

Appeal No. 14-AP-195

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT
OF WISCONSIN

BRAYLON SEIFERT, by his Guardian ad litem, PAUL J. SCOPTUR, KIMBERLY SEIFERT and DAVID SEIFERT,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

DEAN HEALTH INSURANCE and BADGERCARE PLUS,

Involuntary-Plaintiffs,

v.

KAY M. BALINK, M.D. and PROASSURANCE WISCONSIN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants-Appellants-Petitioners.

### BRIEF OF DEFENDANTS-APPELLANTS-PETITIONERS

### CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING Circuit Court Case No. 11-CV-588

Counsel for Defendants-Appellants-Petitioners Kay M. Balink, M.D. and ProAssurance Wisconsin Insurance Company:

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Are an expert witness' qualifications and personal preferences alone sufficient to meet Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1)'s new reliability standard?

Answer by the Court of Appeals: Yes.

II. Do the prejudicial comments made by Plaintiffs' counsel during closing argument require a new trial?

Answer by the Court of Appeals: No.

III. Under all of the circumstances, do the interests of justice require a new trial under Wis. Stat. § 751.06?

To Be Answered By The Court.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument and publication are both warranted. This case presents complex issues of Wisconsin law which justify an oral presentation by the parties. Additionally, published case law pertaining to the novel and important issues raised in this appeal would benefit Wisconsin litigants.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

On July 29, 2011, the Plaintiffs initiated this medical malpractice lawsuit against Dr. Kay Balink, a family practice physician. The allegations underlying the Plaintiffs' complaint arose from Dr. Balink's prenatal care of Kimberly Seifert and the delivery of her child, Braylon Seifert, on May 28 and May 29, 2009. Plaintiffs alleged that Dr. Balink provided them negligent care, causing Braylon to encounter a shoulder dystocia and suffer a brachial plexus injury during delivery. Additionally, Plaintiffs alleged that Dr. Balink failed to acquire informed consent while caring for Kimberly Seifert.

### **B.** Undisputed Background Facts

The undisputed facts adduced at trial pertain to (1) Dr. Balink's prenatal care of Kimberly Seifert, (2) Dr. Balink's delivery of Braylon Seifert on May 28 and May 29, 2009, and (3) the brachial plexus injury suffered by Braylon Seifert.

### 1. Dr. Balink's Prenatal Care of Kimberly Seifert

Dr. Balink assumed Kimberly Seifert's prenatal care on December 5, 2008. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 283.) Between December 5, 2008 and the date of delivery, May 29, 2009, Ms. Seifert attended regular prenatal visits with Dr. Balink on approximately 10 occasions. (R.116: Ex. 237A at KB 8-14.) During these prenatal visits, Dr. Balink monitored, among other things, the approximate duration of Ms. Seifert's pregnancy, her weight, the glucose content of her urine,

and the approximate fundal height of her child. (Id.) Dr. Balink documented the results of each prenatal assessment in the medical records. (Id.)

Ms. Seifert's pregnancy lasted approximately 39½ weeks. (R.145: pp. 70-71.) During her pregnancy, she gained approximately 30 pounds. (Id. at p. 65.) At no time during the pregnancy did Ms. Seifert's urine contain significant amounts of glucose. (R.141: pp. 157-58.) The presence of glucose in the urine may alert the physician that the mother has gestational diabetes. (Id.) By the end of the prenatal period, Dr. Balink measured the fundal height of Ms. Seifert's child to be 39 cm. (R.145: p. 80.) Fundal height is one way in which a physician may determine the approximate size of the fetus. (R.146: pp. 155-57.)

In addition to these regular visits, Ms. Seifert underwent two other relevant prenatal activities to monitor her health and the health of her child. First, Ms. Seifert underwent ultrasonic imaging on five (5) occasions during the prenatal period. (Id. at p. 159.) Ultrasound is another tool available to physicians to determine the approximate size of the unborn child in addition to measuring the fundal height. (Id. at p. 215.) Dr. Balink did not order that Ms. Seifert undergo ultrasonic imaging immediately prior to induction of labor.

Second, Dr. Balink had Ms. Seifert undergo a one-hour glucose tolerance test on March 19, 2009. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 226.) Physicians use the one-hour glucose tolerance test to screen for gestational diabetes in expectant mothers. (R.141: p. 63.) If the expectant mother's blood glucose exceeds a certain level, the

physician would then order the patient to undergo a three-hour glucose tolerance test. (Id.) The three-hour form of the glucose tolerance test is a diagnostic tool rather than merely a screening tool. (Id. at pp. 63-64.) Dr. Balink determined that Ms. Seifert need not undergo the three-hour diagnostic test because her blood glucose level on the one-hour screening test was below 140 mg/dL. (R.145: pp. 46-47.) Ms. Seifert's blood glucose level was 131 mg/dL. (Id.) Ms. Seifert was never diagnosed with gestational diabetes during her pregnancy. (R.142: p. 137.)

On May 26, 2009, Dr. Balink recommended induced labor for Ms. Seifert based on her elevated blood pressure (hypertension). (R.145: p. 74.) Hypertension is a warning sign of pre-eclampsia, a potentially life-threatening condition of pregnancy. (Id.) In Dr. Balink's induction order, she stated that Ms. Seifert's unborn child was "possibly LGA," or "large for gestational age." (Id.) Dr. Balink estimated the child's fetal weight at 3,856 grams (8.5 lbs). (Id. at pp. 80-81.)

2. Dr. Balink's Delivery of Braylon Seifert on May 28 and May 29, 2009

Ms. Seifert arrived at the hospital for induction on May 28, 2009. (R.145: p. 74.) Most of her stay awaiting delivery passed uneventfully. At around 2300, Ms. Seifert's cervix was fully dilated and effaced, meaning that she was anatomically ready for childbirth. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 547.) After pushing for one hour, Ms. Seifert had not made significant progress in delivering Braylon and was exhausted. (R.145: pp. 117-19.) Based on maternal fatigue, Dr. Balink decided to

apply vacuum to coincide with Ms. Seifert's contractions to assist Braylon's descent through the birth canal. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 547.)

At approximately 0021 on May 29, the crown of Braylon's head delivered. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 501.) The delivery of the crown, however, was immediately followed by the retraction of the head back toward the womb. (R.145: p. 131.) This retraction is colloquially termed "the turtle sign." (Id.) The turtle sign informs the physician that the infant's shoulder is stuck on the mother's pubic symphysis, a part of the pelvis. (Id.) This event is called a "shoulder dystocia," and it is a life-threatening medical emergency. (Id.) If the physician is unable to dislodge the infant's shoulder from the pubic symphysis, the baby will die from hypoxia. (R.142: p. 42.)

Dr. Balink immediately recognized the turtle sign and diagnosed the shoulder dystocia. (R.145: p. 131-32.) She then undertook a sequence of recognized obstetrical maneuvers to release Braylon's shoulder from the pelvis, including the McRobert's maneuver, suprapubic pressure, an episiotomy, and a corkscrew maneuver. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 501.) Fortunately, Dr. Balink managed to dislodge Braylon's shoulder. Dr. Balink testified that, during the process, she used nothing other than gentle traction on Braylon's head during this emergency. (R.145: pp. 133-34.) Braylon was born approximately three (3) minutes after Dr. Balink diagnosed the shoulder dystocia, or about 0024. (R.116: Ex. 236 at RICH 501.)

### 3. The Brachial Plexus Injury Suffered by Braylon Seifert

After Braylon was born, physicians diagnosed him with a permanent brachial plexus injury. The brachial plexus is a system of nerves that run from the base of the spine down the length of the arms. Because of Braylon's injury, his left arm has permanently impaired function and growth.

### C. Opinions of Jeffrey Wener, M.D. and Rulings on Admissibility

Dr. Wener, the Plaintiffs' standard of care expert, rendered four opinions critical of Dr. Balink. First, Dr. Wener testified that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care by failing to order a three-hour glucose tolerance test for Ms. Seifert. (R.142: p. 83.) The three-hour glucose tolerance test is used to diagnose gestational diabetes, a condition which Dr. Wener associated with an increased risk of shoulder dystocia. (Id. at pp. 40-41.) Fundamental to his opinion, Dr. Wener stated that the standard of care required Dr. Balink to order the three-hour glucose tolerance test if Ms. Seifert's blood glucose level exceeded 130 mg/dL on the one-hour glucose tolerance screen (as opposed to Dr. Balink's 140 mg/dL threshold). (Id. at pp. 82-83.) Ms. Seifert's blood glucose level was 131 mg/dL. (Id.) Therefore, Dr. Wener concluded, Dr. Balink violated the standard of care by failing to administer the three-hour diagnostic test, which he believes would have shown that Ms. Seifert was a gestational diabetic.

Second, Dr. Wener opined that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care by failing to perform an ultrasound on Ms. Seifert immediately prior to delivery. (Id.

at pp. 101-02.) The ultrasound, Dr. Wener argued, would have given Dr. Balink a better estimate of Braylon's fetal weight. (Id. at pp. 100-01.) Braylon's actual birth weight was 4,370 grams. (Id. at p. 160 [A-App. 67].) Despite Dr. Wener's opinion that a physician may choose either 4,000 grams or 4,500 grams as the threshold for diagnosing macrosomia, Dr. Wener refused to opine that it would be reasonable for a physician to conclude that Braylon was not macrosomic. (Id. at pp. 59, 158-62 [A-App. 48, 65-69].) Macrosomia is a condition which Dr. Wener associated with an increased risk of shoulder dystocia. (Id. at pp. 40-41.) Therefore, Dr. Wener concluded, had Dr. Balink performed ultrasound immediately before the delivery, she would have known that Braylon was macrosomic and was, thus, at a greater risk of shoulder dystocia.

Third, Dr. Wener criticized Dr. Balink for using vacuum assistance during the birthing process. (Id. at pp. 112-13.) He opined that the use of vacuum during delivery increased the risk that a shoulder dystocia would occur. (Id. at pp. 40-41, 79-80, 110.) Therefore, Dr. Wener concluded that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care by using vacuum assistance.

Finally, Dr. Wener testified that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care by applying excessive traction in attempting to resolve the shoulder dystocia. (Id. at pp. 113-14.) At trial, Dr. Wener testified that he believed Dr. Balink used excessive traction by virtue of the degree of injury and the fact that, in Dr. Balink's deposition, she used the words "reasonable traction" rather than "gentle"

traction." (Id.) Dr. Balink denied that she applied excessive traction. (R.145: pp. 133-34.)

Prior to trial, Dr. Balink moved the Circuit Court to exclude Dr. Wener's opinions that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care (1) by failing to order an ultrasound immediately prior to delivery to estimate fetal weight; (2) by failing to order a three-hour glucose tolerance diagnostic test for gestational diabetes; and (3) by using vacuum assistance during delivery. (R.64: pp. 15-27.) Dr. Balink argued that these opinions were unreliable under Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1) because Dr. Wener provided no support for his opinions other than his qualifications and personal preferences. (Id.) He did not rely on medical literature or other sources containing indicia of reliability. (Id.) Additionally, there were many flaws in the way Dr. Wener applied his opinions to the facts of the case. (Id.)

At the pretrial hearing, the Circuit Court ruled: "Dr. Wener's opinions are shaky due to their generality, but I conclude that they are sufficiently reliable to be admitted." (R.138: p. 108 [A-App. 14].) The Circuit Court characterized Dr. Wener's opinions as "holistic" in that they prescribe a certain standard of care when various factual elements converge. (Id. at pp. 108-09 [A-App. 14-15].) With respect to Dr. Balink's arguments that Dr. Wener relied on no medical literature, the Circuit Court stated that Dr. Wener's holistic approach is "not something that's been peer reviewed or published because it's an individualized determination based upon the facts of this case, and in using known factors" such as estimated

fetal weight, maternal weight, glucose levels, etc. (Id. at p. 109 [A-App. 15].) The Circuit Court stated that the way in which Dr. Wener "adds [the factors] up is debatable, but that's not the same as saying the way that Dr. Wener adds them up is not reliable." (Id.) The Circuit Court concluded that, although "[i]t's a close call in my book, as is probably obvious from my ruling, but as I look at the vagaries of medical treatment and diagnosis, Dr. Wener's opinion is an opinion, reliably based on a reliable medical methodology looking at recognized factors of the standard of care." (Id. at pp. 110-11 [A-App. 16-17].)

Dr. Wener provided no further medical support for his opinions at trial. Dr. Wener did, however, encounter several additional problems applying his opinions to the facts of the case. Following Dr. Wener's trial testimony, the Circuit Court denied Dr. Balink's renewed motion to strike Dr. Wener's testimony in its entirety under Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1). (R.142: pp. 191-94.) Later, Dr. Balink argued that the Circuit Court should grant a directed verdict in her favor because Dr. Wener's testimony was unreliable and should have been stricken. (R.147 at p. 6.) The Circuit Court denied this motion. (Id. at pp. 21-22.)

# D. Orders in Limine and Plaintiffs' Counsel's Statements During Closing Arguments

Prior to trial, Dr. Balink and the Injured Patients & Families Compensation Fund (hereinafter "the Fund") filed pretrial motions in limine. The following motions in limine and rulings thereon are relevant to the present appeal:

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, infra, Section I.B.

*Dr. Balink's Motion No. 8.* Dr. Balink moved for an order precluding Plaintiffs' counsel from commenting that this case is analogous to any case in which the Defendants' negligence is compared to the duty of the average person. (R.57: pp. 12-13 [A-App. 84-85].) The Circuit Court granted this motion at the pretrial conference. (R.138: p. 20 [A-App. 29].)

*Dr. Balink's Motion No. 9.* Dr. Balink moved for an order precluding Plaintiffs' counsel from arguing or making any statements to the jurors that they can determine medical negligence using their own experience, common sense, or based on what they "want' or 'deserve." (R.57: pp. 13-14 [A-App. 85-86].) The Circuit Court granted this motion at the pretrial conference. (R.138: pp. 20-21 [A-App. 29-30].)

The Fund's Motion No. 2. The Fund moved for an order precluding Plaintiffs' counsel from employing an analogy between purported negligence of a health care provider rendering medical services to a patient and the average auto driver who carelessly fails to observe the Rules of the Road. (R.67: p. 5 [A-App. 88].) The Circuit Court granted this motion at the pretrial conference at Plaintiffs' counsel's request. (R.138: p. 30 [A-App. 31].)

During closing arguments, Plaintiffs' counsel made the following statements which prejudiced Dr. Balink's defense:

### Comparison to the Rules of the Road

[MR. LEVINE:] Here's the reason why: and we talked about this a little with the witnesses, Speed limit on the highways in this country can be 65

miles an hour, because it's been determined at 65 miles an hour more accidents are going to happen, okay?

MR. LEIB: Your Honor, I have to object. This is improper argument.

MR. LEVINE: It's not.

THE COURT: It is argument, continue.

MR. LEVINE: Thank you. Okay, well, on a nice, beautiful sunny day, clear skies, 65 miles an hour is probably fine. But there may be factors that you have to consider that would make that not fine. That would make you question whether that's the speed you should be going. Let's say it's pouring rain, let's say it's snowing. You're not going to look at that number the same. And Dr. Wener, who I'll talk about in a moment, explained that to you. And this is the issue in this case about gestational diabetes. No one is denying that they're throwing these two numbers out; 130 and 140. But what he tried to explain to you was when you have a big mom, who has an increased risk of gestational diabetes because of her weight, and an increased risk of a big baby because of her weight, you've got to consider which of these numbers you're going to use. His point was what's safe at one speed might not be at another. And that you have to consider those issues. So Dr. Wener's point --

MR. LEIB: Your Honor, I have to object. This is improper argument and there's a motion in limine on this.

. . .

THE COURT: The objection is overruled.

(R.150: pp. 23-24 [A-App. 90-91].)

### First "Golden Rule" Violation

[MR. LEVINE:] Now, you heard some testimony from the defense experts, and I'll talk about them as I go along in this case as well and their bias, where they're coming from. You heard somebody actually get up on the witness stand and say -- Dr. Rouse, I think it was -- if it was 139, I wouldn't have done anything. Really? If it was 139, I would have done nothing different. Is that reasonable to you? Is that reasonable medicine to you? Is that how you want your doctor to care?

MR. LEIB: Objection, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Mr. Levine, that is --

<sup>2</sup> Dwight J. Rouse, M.D., an obstetrician and maternal-fetal specialist, served as one of Dr. Balink's standard of care experts.

MR. LEVINE: I'll withdraw that.

(R.150: p. 25 [A-App. 92] (emphasis added).)

### Second "Golden Rule" Violation

[MR. LEVINE:] Is that what you want? You want a doctor to treat you, or you want a doctor to say, well, you're at 139. You're not at 140. No test for you. Or do you want a doctor to think about you?

MR. LEIB: Your Honor. The Golden Rule.

MR.LEVINE: I'll move on.

THE COURT: Sustained.

MR. LEVINE: Would a patient, excuse me, what would a patient want the doctor to do? Not you. What would a patient want? . . .

(R.150: p. 123 [A-App. 98] (emphasis added).)

### Derogation of Defense Counsel, Insinuation that Jurors are Experts

I spoke to you in my closing argument and I addressed issues. I didn't tell you what to do. I didn't tell you you're not experts. I didn't tell you you're not that smart. I didn't tell you don't know the law. Apparently I have a little more respect for you than Mr. Leib does. (A-App. 93.)

I've got a little more faith in you than he does, because he spent the last hour and a half telling you what to do, telling you what you can't do, telling you what you don't know and that you're not going to be experts - you're not going to know the information. I disagree. (A-App. 93-94.)

. . .

These are the kind of arguments you make to juries if you think they're not to smart. Fool you, scare you, you know? You people are from Lancaster. How smart could you be, right? I think you're pretty smart. I think you get it. I think you see through all this nonsense. I think you should be respected, not told what to do or fooled. You should be talked to like adults, make you own decisions about this case. Not be told what to do. (A-App. 100.)

. . .

This shell game, you know, this game that they're trying to play with you. You know, it's that game, you know, when you go to the fair? Where's the ball? Whoa, whoa, whoa, where's the ball? That's what they tried to do to you. It's a matter of respect. I don't do it to you. I'm giving you the information, you'll figure it out. I'm not telling you what to do. You're smart. (A-App. 105.)

. . .

So when Mr. Leib comes before you and makes his big grandstand move. Where's this one, where's that one? Where's this one? Well, you know, it's just not true. It's a matter, again, of respect. It's a matter of respecting you as a group and trying to fool you. You're not going to get fooled. You're pretty damn smart. You're not going to get fooled. I don't think you'll get fooled. (A-App. 108.)

. . .

You have common sense and you can analyze the expert testimony and you're smart enough to do it. I'm like, again, I'm like Mr. Leib. I have a lot of faith in your smarts. I think you are experts in a sense. I think you've learned quite a bit and I think you can make good decisions. I don't have to tell you what to do or how to do it. I'm not going to do that. But think it through, ladies and gentlemen. (A-App. 112.)

. . .

Unlike Mr. Leib, I think you're smart people and I think you've learned the medicine and I think you are experts in a sense. (A-App. 113.)

(R.150: pp. 118-38.)

#### E. Verdict and Post-Verdict Motions

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Plaintiffs on their negligence claim. (R.115 [A-App. 9-11].) The jury did not find that Dr. Balink violated informed consent. (Id.) Dr. Balink brought motions after verdict asking the Circuit Court to, among other things, order a new trial. (R.127.) Dr. Balink argued that the Circuit Court should order a new trial based on the erroneous admission of Dr. Wener's expert opinions, Plaintiffs' counsel's prejudicial statements during closing argument, and in the interests of justice. (Id.) The Circuit Court denied each of Dr. Balink's requests for a new trial.

### F. The Court of Appeals' Opinion

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