# RECEIVED

# STATE OF WISCONSIN 02-29-2016 SUPREME COURT **APPEAL NO. 14-AP-195**

**CLERK OF SUPREME COURT** 

**OF WISCONSIN** 

BRAYLON SEIFERT, by his Guardian ad litem, PAUL J. SCOPTUR, KIMBERLY SEIFERT and DAVID SEIFERT,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

DEAN HEALTH INSURANCE and BADGERCARE PLUS,

Involuntary Plaintiffs,

v.

KAY M. BALINK, M.D. and PROASSURANCE WISCONSIN INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendants-Appellants-Petitioners.

#### **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFFS-RESPONDENTS**

# CIRCUIT COURT FOR GRANT COUNTY HONORABLE CRAIG R. DAY, PRESIDING Circuit Court Case No. 11-CV-588

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

# 1. Maternal Obesity and Weight Gain as a Risk Factor for Shoulder Dystocia.

Dr. Wener applied his knowledge of maternal obesity to Mrs. Seifert prepregnancy weight and her weight at time of delivery. He opined that 36 pounds is "too much weight for her to have gained." (R: 141 p. 81 [R-App.43].) Dr. Wener testified that escalated weight gain in obese women is not healthy for the mother or baby. (Id.) Further, maternal obesity is a risk factor for shoulder dystocia because mother's extra soft tissue decreases the space available for the baby to fit during delivery. (R:141 p. 59 [R-App.35].) He also testified that prior to delivery a doctor can suspect macrosomia if maternal obesity and gestational diabetes are present, requiring identification by the doctor. (Id. at p. 60 [R-App.36].) Dr. Rouse confirms these principles testifying that obese women tend to have bigger babies and that larger babies are more at risk for shoulder dystocia. (R: 146 p. 216 [R-App.98].)

Dr. Wener further explained the importance of obtaining an accurate estimate of the size of the baby. (R. 141 at pp. 58-60 [R-App.34-36].) He testified

that a doctor can perform an ultrasound or a Leopold's maneuver to determine whether the infant has the potential of being macrosomic. (Id.) Leopold's maneuver is the doctor's physical examination of the mother's abdomen. (Id.) A Leopold's maneuver is more difficult if the mother is obese; the bigger the mom's abdominal wall is, the more difficult it is to evaluate the size of the baby. (Id. at 62.) However, he explained that a mother's obesity has less effect on the accuracy of an ultrasound. (Id.) Again, Dr. Rouse agrees with Dr. Wener's position on obesity and shoulder dystocia. (R. 146: pp. 206-207 [R-App. 96-97].)

#### 2. Gestational Diabetes as a Risk Factor for Shoulder Dystocia.

Dr. Wener opined generally that gestational diabetes is diabetes that occurs in pregnancy. (R:141 p.62-63 [R-App.38-39].) If the mother's one-hour glucose test is abnormal, she then undergoes a three-hour test to diagnose or rule-out gestational diabetes. (Id.) It is well accepted that infants of gestational diabetic mother tend to become bigger and are more of a fetal risk for delivery complications. (Id. at 64 [R-App.40].) Dr. Wener testified that Ms. Seifert had an abnormal one-hour glucose screen at 130 mg/dL.<sup>4</sup> Coupled with her her already increased risks of diabetes, a three-hour glucose screen was necessary. (Id. at 82 – 85 [R-App.44-47].) Dr. Wener testified that in his opinion Ms. Seifert was more

considered in determining Dr. Wener's reliability under *Daubert* or whether Circuit Court abused its discretion.

27

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Dr. Balink, at Deft. App. Br. p. 22, inappropriately references testimony of Dr. Fred Duboe taken two months after trial in this matter. In no way should this after the fact evidence be

likely than not a gestational diabetic when looking at her obesity, one-hour glucose screen, and macrosomic infant. (Id.)

ACOG bulletin No. 30, used by Dr. Balink at trial, states that the cutoff threshold in screening for gestational diabetes is 130 mg/dL up to 140 mg/dL. (R. 141: p. 132[R-App.68].) Dr. Balink argues that Dr. Wener's use of 130 mg/dL as the threshold screening level warrants his testimony unreliable, arguing that Dr. Wener picked this level arbitrarily, out of thin air. Ironically, Dr. Balink's own medical literature states that the use of 130 mg/dL as the screening threshold was the standard of care in 2009. (Id.) At trial, Dr. Balink's expert Dr. Rouse gave his opinion that 140 mg/dL was the cutoff for one-hour glucose screening. Dr. Rouse offers no explanation as to why he chose 140 mg/dL in this matter, other than that is the level Dr. Balink used. Conversely, as stated above Dr. Wener offers a fact specific explanation in opining that 130 mg/dL was the standard of care threshold in this matter given Ms. Seifert's risk factors and presentation.

Dr. Wener explained that Ms. Seifert's one-hour glucose screen was abnormal testifying that:

"131 is abnormal, by 2009, those providing obstetrical care were using 130. For many, many years prior to that it had been 140. And then probably around the turn of the Century it became evident that more patients were being identified with gestational diabetes when the screening was changed to 130. And by 2009 most everyone was using 130. Especially though in a patient that's this obese you have to be concerned about diabetes" (Id. at p. 83 [R-App.45].) He opined further that, "if it's above 130 that requires a three-hour glucose tolerance test." (Id. at p. 84 [R-App.46].)

When questioned directly about ACOG Bulletin No. 30, Dr. Wener explained that the accuracy of a 130 standard for determining whether to administer a three-hour glucose tolerance diagnostic test was recognized as superior:

"As of 2009 the standard of care was 130." referring to ACOG No. 30]... "First of all that was 2001. Second of all if you read that guideline it'll tell you that even in 2001 they were discussing the 130. The 130 was used more often even at that point then 140. They also brought up the point that at 130, 25 percent more gestational diabetics are identified using the 130 numbers. So even then – this was eight years later, when 2009 came about and even if you were still a believer in the 140, you have a patient here that's obese and a patient that has a higher risk for gestational diabetes. The standard of care required a three-hour GTT." (Id. at p. 133 [R-App.69].)

He explained that all of the factors evaluated together – not each in isolation – led to his opinion that Ms. Seifert more likely than not suffered from gestational diabetes. (Id. at pp. 85, 86, 134, 136, 142-43 [R-App.47-48, 70, 72, 74-75].) Thus, Dr. Wener opined that Dr. Balink breached the standard of care in failing to administer a three-hour glucose test. (Id.) Had Dr. Balink administered the test she would be presented with a gestational diabetic obese mother carrying a large fetal weight, all three risk factors of shoulder dystocia, together; not in isolation, requiring that she inform Mrs. Seifert of the risks and alternatives to having a vaginal delivery.

Again, Dr. Balink's expert agreed that gestational diabetes is a problem for expectant mothers because high blood sugar levels lead to overgrown babies, which in turn can lead to shoulder dystocia. (R: 146 p. 186 [R-App.92].) Dr.

Balink's attacks on Dr. Wener cannot be reconciled with her own expert's agreement.

#### 3. Macrosomia or LGA as A Risk Factor for Shoulder Dystocia.

As outlined above, Dr. Wener testified that Dr. Balink should have *suspected* that the infant was macrosomic because of the other factors present during prenatal care, i.e. obesity, weight gain, gestational diabetes. (R: 141 p. 165 [R-App.77].) Again, Dr. Rouse agrees that obese woman have bigger babies and big babies are more likely to have shoulder dystocia. (R:146 p. 207, 206 [R-App.97-98].) Dr. Wener's testified that the infant fell within the range of macrosomia; above 4,000 grams and less than 200 grams of 4,500 grams.

During cross-examination, Dr. Wener was challenged on whether Braylon was actually macrosomic weighing 9 lbs. 12 oz. or 4,370 grams. (R:141 p.160 [R-App.76].) Dr. Wener testified, "By 130 grams...we're [sic] not taking statistics, we're talking about a person. And when you're talking about 4,500 grams compared to 4,370... you're talking about 130 grams. That's, that's a tiny amount of weight." (Id.) Contrary to Dr. Balink's representations, Dr. Wener did not testify that estimating fetal weight by way of fundal heights and maternal factors was unacceptable nor did he testify inconsistently with testimony at deposition.

Dr. Balink fails to acknowledge that on cross-examination, literature read to Dr. Rouse stated, "With estimated fetal weight greater than 4,500 grams, a long second stage of labor or arrest of descent in the second station for cesarean delivery because of the higher likelihood of shoulder dystocia, at a [sic] given

birth weight in pregnancy of women with diabetes, it may be best to apply the above recommendation to an estimated fetal weight greater than 4,000 for gestational diabetics." (R: 146 p.233 [R-App.101].)

Again, all of Dr. Wener's testimony concerning macrosomia and the risk for shoulder dystocia, in this regard goes to weight and credibility. Dr. Wener referred to accepted principles of medical science and applied them to Mrs. Seifert to arrive at his opinion. Dr. Wener's methodology in this regard is exactly what Daubert requires of an expert.

# D. Dr. Wener's Opinions Regarding Individualized Patient Care is Classic Medical Methodology Supported by Relevant Case Law and the Dr. Balink's Own Experts.

Dr. Wener's employed the same methodology all physicians use practicing clinical medicine. Clinical medicine requires that physicians view each patient in his or her entirety during their care and treatment, not symptoms or factors in isolation as Dr. Balink would suggest. Dr. Wener did not create a new medical practice as described by Dr. Balink's attack on his 'holistic' approach, nor did the Circuit Court in affirming his admissibility.

Dr. Rouse, the Defendant's expert, agreed that medicine is individualized. (R:146: pp. 194, 197 [R-App.94, 95].) Dr. Rouse, confirms Dr. Wener's testimony and the Circuit Court's holding, when discussing ACOG literature, "of course, back to your individualization, we wouldn't need doctors; we could just have robots if we didn't have to individualize care." (emphasis added) (R. 146: pp. 193-194 [R-App.93-94].) Dr. Rouse answered in the affirmative when asked if he

considers patients as whole during treatment. (Id. at p. 197 [R-App.95].) Again, Dr. Rouse agreed that he would treat patients differently based on their individual presentation. (Id.) It is disingenuous for Dr. Balink to suggest that Dr. Wener's testimony is inadmissible when her own expert employs the same methods in patient care.

Medical decision-making relies on judgment, a process that is difficult to quantify of even to assess qualitatively. *Primiano* 598 F.3d at 565. Those in the medical profession must use their knowledge and experience to weigh known factors with inevitable uncertainties to make sound decisions. *Id.* Courts have determined that medical knowledge is often uncertain, given the complexity of the human body. *Primiano* 598 F.3d at 566. *See also Sandoval-Mendoza*, 472 F.3d at 655. The Circuit Court agrees that medical opinion is not in a hard science, "it is not a mathematical calculation wherein one plus one plus one always yields three. Sometimes it yields 3.2 and sometimes it yields 2.8" (R: 151 p. 3 [R-App.119].)

The Circuit Court's determination of Dr. Wener's individualized methodology was not without considerable analysis against *Daubert* and its progeny. (R 138: pp. 107-111[R-App.19-23].) Dr. Balink can certainly disagree with Dr. Wener's conclusions in assessing Ms. Seifert's risk factors collectively, and not in isolation, but disagreement in his conclusions will not warrant his testimony inadmissible under *Daubert*.

### E. The Court of Appeals' Decision Conforms with Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1), *Daubert*, and its Progeny.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the Circuit Court's decision on both the issue of *Daubert*, as adopted by Wis. Stat. § 907.02(1), and prejudicial statements. The Court of Appeals, with a lengthy analysis of *Daubert* precedent, concluded that the Circuit Court did not erroneously exercise its discretion when admitting Dr. Wener's testimony. (R-App.136-159). The Court of Appeals concluded that Dr. Wener's opinions were reliable under the principles and standards of *Daubert*, *Kumho Tire*, and additional federal court decisions specifically addressing expert testimony of physicians. (R-App.152). Dr. Balink's statement that the Court of Appeals applied "its own interpretation" of Wis. Stat. §907.02(1) and "conferred unfettered discretion" on Circuit Court's in analyzing the admissibility of expert witness is entirely unfounded and inconsistent with the Court of Appeals decision.

Dr. Balink criticizes the Court of Appeals decision without citing one case contradictory to the holding. Certainly, if the Court of Appeals analysis in fact "eviscerate[s] the *Daubert* standard," as stated in Dr. Balink's brief she could have found one case since the inception of *Daubert* twenty years ago to support such a statement. Rather, Dr. Balink exaggerates and misinterprets the Court of Appeals decision to support her flawed argument. After independently considering the legal application of *Daubert*, the Court of Appeals upheld the Circuit Court's

discretionary decision as rationally based in accordance with accepted legal standards in light of the facts in the record. (R-App.144).

Dr. Balink's statement the Court of Appeals endorsed a special exception for medical malpractices cases further highlights her misunderstanding of *Daubert's* application. The Court of Appeals and the Circuit Court discusses the uncertainty of medicine and individualized care in conformity with *Daubert* case law, stating that factors may or may not be pertinent in assessing reliability, depending on the nature of the issue and subject of the testimony.

Consistent with case law cited throughout this brief, the Court of Appeals reasoned that the factors listed in *Daubert* are not a definitive checklist and the test of reliability is flexible dependent on the circumstances of each case. Further, that the trial court is in the best position to weigh the importance of each factor. The Court of Appeals acknowledged that the Circuit Court was within its discretion weighing Dr. Wener's extensive experience, knowledge, education and training in determining the reliability of his testimony. (R-App.149). Dr. Balink does not challenge Dr. Wener's qualifications, yet argues that the Court of Appeals, and the Circuit Court, placed unfettered importance on his thirty-six years experience as an obstetrician. Dr. Balink is confused with the Court of Appeals actual holding. (Defs. Appellant Br. at 13.) The Court of Appeals did not hold that any physician with extensive experience is automatically admissible, rather, that extensive experience is particularly useful in evaluating the expert's reliability. (R-App.149.) Further, the Court of Appeals' discussion that a trial judge may place greater weight on the expert's extensive experience and knowledge in determining his/her reliability is supported by *Daubert*, *Kumho Tire*, and several other federal cases cited within the decision, and Fed. R. Evid. 702 advisory committee's notes.

Secondly, Dr. Balink's argument that Dr. Wener's testimony is unreliable because he did not reference any specific medical literature further emphasizes her misunderstanding of the application of *Daubert*. As discussed in Section I.(A), Federal case law is abundantly clear that literature is but one factor a court *may* consider under *Daubert*. The Court of Appeals correctly states that the Circuit Court was not strictly tied to whether Dr. Wener's opinions were reliably based on medical literature. (R-App.150.)

Finally, the Court of Appeals properly determined that Dr. Wener did reliably apply his theory to the specific facts of the case at hand. Conflicting arguments or testimony will be attacked by cross-examination. Merely, because Dr. Balink's experts disagree with Dr. Wener's testimony or certain methodology does not mean his opinions violate *Daubert*. (R-App.151.)

# II. PLAINTIFFS' COUNSEL'S CLOSING ARGUMENTS WERE NOT IMPROPER, DID NOT PREVENT THE TRUE ISSUES OF THE CASE FROM BEING TRIED, AND WERE NOT PREJUDICIAL TO THE DEFENSE

#### A. Law on Improper Statements of Counsel

In 1984, in *Lobermeier v. General Tel. Co.*, 119 Wis.2d 129, 136, 349 N.W.2d 466, 470 (1984), the court said failure to demand a mistrial is tantamount to an acknowledgement that the error is harmless. A new trial is granted only if the

statements are "plainly unwarranted and clearly injurious" and "cause prejudice to the opposing party and unfairly influence a jury's verdict." Id.

There has been a longstanding history prohibiting counsel from inflaming the passions and prejudices of the jury. See United States v. Young, 470 U.S. 1, 9 (1985)(an attorney cannot 'make unfounded and inflammatory attacks on the opposing advocate"), Brown v. Swinelord. 44Wis. 282, 293 (1878), see also Sanders-El v. Wencewicz. 987 F.2d 483, 484-85 (8th Cir. 1993); Rickabus v. Gott. 16 N.W. 384, 385 (Mich. 1883)("The duty of the trial judge to repress needless scandal and gratuitous attacks on character. . . and good care should be taken to discharge it fully and faithfully.")

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